# EVALUATION OF THE PCO CENTRAL INNOVATION HUB

[\*] An asterisk appears where sensitive information has been removed in accordance with the *Access to Information Act* and *Privacy Act*.

## **FINAL REPORT**

**Privy Council Office** 

**November 19, 2018** 



Institut sur la gouvernance

EXPERTISE DE POINTE

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	ii
Overview of Key Findings	
	4
introduction	1
Context and Background on the Program	2
Establishing The Hub to Drive Innovation in the Public Sector	2
Key Activities	4
Evaluation Findings	6
Relevancy	6
The Trend Toward Public Sector Innovation Hubs	6
Placement of Innovation Hubs	8
Evolving Mandate	9
Efficiency	11
Resources	11
Comparisons to other Jurisdictions	12
Effectiveness	15
Achievement of Short Term and Operational Outcomes	15
Progress Towards the Achievement of Longer Term Outcomes	16
ntext and Background on the Program	
Establishing The Hub to Drive Innovation in the Public Sector  Key Activities  Valuation Findings  Relevancy  The Trend Toward Public Sector Innovation Hubs  Placement of Innovation Hubs  Evolving Mandate  Efficiency  Resources  Comparisons to other Jurisdictions  Effectiveness  Achievement of Short Term and Operational Outcomes  Progress Towards the Achievement of Longer Term Outcomes  Conclusions and Recommendations  Ianagement Response and Action Plan  Isppendix A: Detailed Overview of Methodology  Isppendix B: Interview Guide	31
Appendix A: Detailed Overview of Methodology	35
Appendix B: Interview Guide	37
Appendix C: Overview of Projects Reviewed	41

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The evaluation of the Central Innovation Hub (henceforth "the Hub") covered the period dating from its establishment in February 2015 until the time it was re-mandated as the Impact and Innovation Unit (IIU) in November 2017. The evaluation was undertaken as part of the Privy Council Office's (PCO) Risk-Based Audit and Evaluation Plan for fiscal year 2018-19.

In accordance with the Treasury Board *Policy on Results*, this evaluation focused on the three areas of continued relevancy, efficiency, and results achievement (effectiveness). The evaluation report assesses achievement towards short-term objectives including establishing the Hub's infrastructure, outreach (including communications and marketing), and outcomes. Where possible, it also examines operational outcomes and progress towards the achievement of longer-term objectives including the expansion of the federal innovation network through a number of communities of practice and committees.

The evaluation used multiple lines of evidence. These included literature and document review, file review, key informant interviews, a review of project reports, and in-depth case studies of selected partnership projects that had been completed by the end of 2017.

#### **Overview of Key Findings**

#### Relevancy

The evaluation found that the Hub/IIU continues to have a relevant role in supporting government priorities by helping create a Public Service that is agile, as well as capable and supported in undertaking experimentation and igniting innovation. The Hub's approach was aligned with other international jurisdictions and the evolution of the IIU will continue to bring Canada closer to leaders in public sector innovation.

The Hub was purposely placed at the centre of government to send a clear message across the Public Service of the importance of experimentation and innovation; to drive innovation and change; to help remove systemic barriers; and build capability to deal with complex problems. The Hub leadership recognized the importance of reflecting on its own placement, mandate and usefulness, and have evolved in response to changing needs during the evaluation period.

#### Recommendations

It is recommended that the IIU:

- Utilize the Deputy Ministers' Task Force on Public Sector Innovation as a venue to:
  - Tackle complex problems from a systems level.



- Work with its partners to keep up, if not ahead, of the speed of transformation.
   This requires looking beyond innovation methods at the program level to system level change.
- Work collaboratively within established networks to identify and remove impediments to innovation. These include: cultural, procedural, policy and resource capacity (such as IT system and HR).
- Map its relationships to the broader innovation ecosystem (including committees, networks and other labs) that the IIU intends to work with to achieve outcomes. This will be helpful to the IIU as it continues to evolve and in measuring its results.

#### **Efficiency**

The evaluation found that the Hub invested a great deal of time in the start-up phase and there is evidence that these efforts have increased buy-in and support its work. There continues to be a central role for the IIU in developing relationships and networks, conducting innovative tests/proof of concepts projects, sharing learnings, and together, with key partners, being a catalyst for change.

For a small but growing group, it is clear that the Hub was, and the IIU continues to be, innovative in how it uses its own resources and leverages external resources to 'punch above its weight' in order to have the greatest impact.

#### Recommendations

It is recommended that the IIU:

- Expand its network of experts and collaborative partnerships to include experts in the private and not-for-profit sectors, who have shared interest in a competitive and thriving society and economy.
- Put in place a process to track demand for IIU services in relation to resources to
  ensure there is sufficient capacity to meet the needs within the federal Public
  Service. The Hub will require more resources to accomplish its objectives. Any
  future assessment of resourcing levels should include an assessment of a cost
  recovery model.

#### **Effectiveness**

The evaluation concluded that the Hub has achieved its short-term and operational outcomes and the IIU is on track to achieve its longer-term outcomes.

There is evidence to demonstrate that the Hub has identified and removed system-wide barriers to innovation which has led to positive policies being introduced to provide authority for departments to use new and innovative approaches to the design of policies, regulations, programs and services. It has created and tested new tools/approaches, and that these are becoming embedded in the policy development and delivery process system-wide. There are a number of networks and mechanisms in

place to exchange information and best practices and spread successful experimentation and innovation across the portfolio. The Hub was also an active member of the international community of practice and network of innovation labs.

#### Recommendations

It is recommended that the IIU:

- Use the annual reports to publish all information related to the projects it supports
   (that move beyond the expression of interest stage) in order to showcase what has
   worked, transfer knowledge, and more importantly to share lessons learned and
   identify system-level barriers to innovation. This will send a powerful message and
   will help create an environment which demonstrates that informed risk-taking and
   failure is part of the process and an important part of the learning process.
- Focus on building capacity and scaling up innovation by leveraging networks and
  existing communities of practices such as Policy, HR and Regulatory. Bring
  together key stakeholders that would directly benefit from a deeper discussion of
  findings and how they might apply the findings in different areas. Expand the use of
  learning events such as the Randomized Control Trial workshop.
- [\*] as part of ongoing operational planning, develop key performance indicators that measure activities and outcomes and ensure that data and information are being collected on a regular basis to inform ongoing monitoring and reporting on demand for services and results. Given that the IIU is part of the Results and Delivery Unit, it has a leadership role in establishing a plan with detailed indicators that measure change at the system levels. **Note**: In June 2018, the IIU launched its Theory of Change as the framework for planning and measuring results. According to the IIU, the Theory of Change has helped the Unit build consensus and articulate the systems changes, it, and its partners, are seeking to achieve and how they will be realized. The Unit further committed to move the Theory of Change into action by rolling out the monitoring and developmental evaluation strategies.

## INTRODUCTION

The evaluation of the Central Innovation Hub (henceforth "the Hub") covered the time period from its establishment in February 2015 until the time it was re-mandated as the Impact and Innovation Unit (IIU) in November 2017. The evaluation was undertaken as part of the Privy Council Office's (PCO) Risk-Based Audit and Evaluation Plan for fiscal year 2018-19.

In accordance with the Treasury Board *Policy on Results*, the evaluation focused on the areas of continued relevancy, efficiency, and results achievement (effectiveness).

Given the coverage period, the evaluation primarily assesses achievement towards short-term objectives and outcomes. Where possible, it also covers operational outcomes and progress towards the achievement of longer-term objectives, which are as follows:

- 1. Evidence that new tools and approaches are embedded in the policy development and delivery process system-wide;
- 2. Evidence that positive policies are in place to provide authority for departments to use new and innovative approaches in policy, regulations, program, and services;
- 3. Evidence that Canada, through the Hub, is an active member of the international community of practice and network of innovation labs; and
- 4. Evidence that mechanisms are established to spread successful innovation across the portfolios (e.g., Hub reports, interdepartmental communities of practice).

## **Overview of Methodology**

The evaluation used multiple lines of evidence which included literature and document review; file review; key informant interviews; a review of project reports; and in-depth case studies of selected partnership projects that had been completed by the end of 2017.

The limitations associated with this evaluation were as follows:

- The evaluation focused on the first two years of the Hub's operations. During this time, the Hub spent the first year establishing its infrastructure. At the same time, during its first two years, the Hub was quickly evolving to respond to the needs of the federal Public Service. This made the assessment of results more challenging given that, in effect, the key activities and focus of the Hub had evolved by the second year. These factors, combined with the fact that a two-year period is generally regarded as a short timeframe to evaluate results achievement, made measurement of long-term outcomes difficult.
- The short timeframe for, and timing of, the evaluation limited the number of interviews that could be undertaken. In addition, the interviews were primarily

with former Hub staff or current IIU staff. However, project partners and an external advisor were interviewed as part of the case study review.

• Given the timeframe, there were a limited number of projects that had been completed (n=16) and therefore a limited number of partners to consult.

Further detail about the methodology and limitations can be found in Appendix A. A copy of the moderator guide used for the semi-structured interview consultations is available in Appendix B. Finally, an overview of the projects reviewed as part of the Case Study review is included in Appendix C.

## CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND ON THE PROGRAM

## ESTABLISHING THE HUB TO DRIVE INNOVATION IN THE PUBLIC SECTOR

In the private sector, innovation is regarded as essential to stay ahead of the competition and survive as a business. Innovation in the public sector, on the other hand, has been slow to take hold and become embedded in the culture. This is beginning to change as governments increasingly recognize that in order to address the complex needs and challenges of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century and, by extension, the long-term growth and prosperity of Canada – governments must innovate.

In 2013, the Privy Council Office (PCO) released a roadmap to modernize Canada's Public Service by the end of the decade. Entitled, "Blueprint 2020," this report was based on the feedback of over 110,000 public servants and prioritized actions for: transformation, improved inter-departmental collaboration, and increased citizen engagement. One of the areas of focus was "innovative practices and networking," as the interim report found:

Public servants want to develop innovative ideas and approaches to better serve Canada and Canadians. This requires improved information sharing and more ways to connect and collaborate across the Public Service to learn from each other and draw on outside expertise as needed. Many would like to see greater use of communities of practice, enhanced public access to information and more emphasis on engaging external partners and the Canadian public. They also see a need for more risk tolerance to try out new ways of working and serving Canadians.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Blueprint 2020 Summary Interim Progress Report, <a href="https://www.canada.ca/en/privy-council/services/reports/blueprint-2020/summary-interim-progress-report.html">https://www.canada.ca/en/privy-council/services/reports/blueprint-2020/summary-interim-progress-report.html</a>, Government of Canada, Last modified December 14, 2017



2

Following the establishment of innovation hubs in countries such as Denmark, United Kingdom and Australia, and in response to Blueprint 2020, the Clerk of the Privy Council and the Secretary to the Cabinet,<sup>2</sup> set about establish a small innovation hub.

The Hub will provide expertise and advice on emerging areas and will help change the way the Public Service does business. It will also support departments in applying new approaches... to complex policy and program challenges.3

In 2015, the Central Innovation Hub was established in the Plans and Priorities Division of PCO but with a non-traditional open-concept workspace aimed at fostering collaboration in the same fashion as many other federal and international innovation labs.

As noted by the Clerk, locating the Hub at the centre of government, and within PCO specifically, was a deliberate decision intended to send a strong signal that the government values innovation, responsiveness, and the adoption of a philosophy of continuous change: "We are doing it here in the Privy Council Office, at our centre of government, to demonstrate that we think innovation is important."4

[\*] the Hub expected to provide strong value for money as a system enabler. Along with its partners, the Hub was expected to identify barriers to innovation and help remove them; introduce process efficiencies; as well as test and help introduce better targeting for programs. The Hub had three horizontal objectives:

- 1. Act as a central resource that provides easy access to information on best practices, new tool, approaches, and techniques.
- Establish networks and partnerships between project leads and resources to accelerate departmental work and act as a central node in the broader innovation network within the public sector.
- 3. Act as a direct innovation driver that works with departments to identify and plan projects, playing an active role throughout the lifecycle of the project, as well as documenting results and evaluating results to identify success and key lessons for the system.

In its first Annual Report (March 2016), the Hub outlined its core practice areas as follows:

Behavioural Insights: Improve the public policy outcomes and optimize programs and services based on a better understanding of the way people behave in reallife situations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Destination 2020, Blueprint 2020, Report, Clerk of the Privy Council, Government of Canada, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Winnie Agbonlahor, "Janice Charette, Clerk of the Privy Council and Secretary to the Cabinet, Government of Canada: Exclusive Interview," https://www.globalgovernmentforum.com/interview-janice-charette-clerk-of-theprivy-council-and-secretary-to-the-cabinet-government-of-canada/, Global Government Forum, July 21, 2015

- Design: Apply principles of human-centred design/design thinking to work through stubborn problems, uncover insights, and improve user experience of programs and services.
- Data: Tap into unconventional and massive data sources (i.e., Big Data) to provide information for the government to pursue more innovative approaches in public policy development and implementation.

Additionally, the Hub undertook work to provide the policy rationale and create space for the government to pursue more innovative approaches in public policy development and implementation.

In late 2015, a new federal government was elected with a new agenda and horizontal commitments to strengthen the culture of measurement, evaluation, and innovation in the Public Service. Innovation and results were also outlined in a number of publicly available ministerial mandate letters.

The Hub was originally led by an Assistant Secretary, and supported by 1.5 FTEs. Its initial priorities were to establish the Hub, secure resources (including office space), and staff key positions. In reflecting on these early days, former Hub staff admit they underestimated the time it would take to physically establish the Hub while also engaging with critical partners in other federal departments and agencies in order to: market the Hub and its mandate; provide a rationale and encouragement towards innovation; and linking innovation to improved public services and outcomes for Canadians.

With the election of a new government in 2015, the focus on outcomes to drive, monitor, and report on results and with the creation of the Results and Delivery (R&D) Secretariat in 2016, the Hub was transferred to the R&D Secretariat. The Hub office was also physically relocated to a more centrally located PCO office. The interviewees noted that being closer to senior decision-makers was more important than non-traditional design and functional collaborative space. This decision was also made to better align the new government-wide drive towards using innovation to achieve results. **Note:** the location of the Hub is discussed further below.

## **KEY ACTIVITIES**

In its first two years of operation, the Hub's key activities focused on the following:

#### **Establishing the Hub's infrastructure**

When established, the majority of staff time was spent on acquiring and establishing the operational space for the Hub and recruiting new staff (either internally, externally or through a variety of flexible arrangements such as micro-assignments/missions and student co-ops).



#### **Outreach (including communications and marketing)**

Once established, Hub staff and senior leaders invested in outreach activities including communications and marketing in order to increase understanding and awareness about the purpose and role of the Hub; develop trust with representatives of departments and agencies; work with partners to incorporate innovation into their work; and to establish relations with other jurisdictions. Outreach activity primarily focused on:

- Departments, including the small community of federal and provincial innovation labs:
- Public servants through learning sessions, conferences, and events, such as armchair discussions;
- Senior government executives through Deputy Minister and Associate Deputy Minister committees:<sup>5</sup>
- The Canada School of Public Service, to incorporate innovation into the learning and training curricula; and
- Other jurisdictions provincially and internationally to learn and share best practices.

Information and learning sessions were also held in order to inform and better understand the policy community – including needs and barriers to innovation – and the latest innovative tools and approaches, (i.e. behavioural economics; data analytics; strategic design; innovative finance; crowdsourcing, challenge-prizes, open policy-making; innovative partnerships; disruptive technologies) that were already in use.

#### **Undertake Partnership Projects**

As per its established mandate, the Hub was expected to undertake projects in partnership with federal departments and agencies. Early projects tested Behavioural Insights; use of large data and design-thinking tools and methodologies. With its partners, the Hub:

- Developed common or standard criteria for assessing proposed projects including: areas already tested in other jurisdictions with proven results; alignment with government priorities; scalability across government and capacity.
- Identified potential partners and projects to pursue using new and innovative methods and tools.
- Approved and launched 16 partnership projects (please see Appendix C for an overview of projects undertaken within the timeframe of this evaluation).

#### **Develop Innovation Networks**

The Hub spent a great deal of time reaching out to others in the innovation space both within the federal framework and across national and international jurisdictions. The Hub created and supported the expansion of the federal innovation network through a number of communities of practice and committees (**Note:** these communities, networks and committees are discussed further below under Effectiveness). These networks continue to support both knowledge exchange and transfer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Support to senior executive committees is outlined later in this report.



5

In response to a Budget 2017 commitment, the Innovation Hub was asked to lead the Impact Canada Initiative. In recognition of this increasing responsibility, in November 2017, the Hub was re-mandated as the Impact and Innovation Unit (IIU) with a new mandate to act as a centre of expertise to support departments' use of outcomes-based and expanded approaches to innovation including prize/challenges, new partnership models, innovative financing approaches, impact measurement techniques, and behavioural insights to get better results for Canadians in priority areas.

## **EVALUATION FINDINGS**

## RELEVANCY

#### The Trend Toward Public Sector Innovation Hubs

Innovation labs in the public sector began to emerge in the early 2000s, with the creation of Denmark's MindLab in 2002. Since this time, dozens of equivalents have sprung up around the world. Examples include the OPM Innovation Lab in Washington, DC; the Laboratorio Para La Ciudad in Mexico City; the Human Experience Lab in Singapore; and the Centre for Excellence in Public Sector Design, Canberra, Australia.

Experience from Nesta and others who are leading in the areas of innovation labs reveals that "all governments need institutions to catalyze change." Most governments struggle to find the space, time and resources to envision the future. Investments in innovation labs, such as the Hub, create the structures, space and capacity to envision and test new approaches that can lead to better results for Canadians.

The business rationale for innovation labs or hubs is derived from their potential to accelerate a fundamental shift in public sector institutions and their cultures in order to address increasingly complex problems. For societies to advance, public sector organizations need to continuously find new and innovative approaches that will help grow the economy and meet society's evolving needs. Faced with shifting demands from an increasingly connected and engaged citizenry and limited resources, traditional public sector approaches to policy, program and service delivery alone are not sufficient to meet those needs. Public sector organizations need to reinvent themselves and be early adopters of new products and technologies. This does not mean abandoning everything old, but it does mean a unique balance of traditional approaches with new innovative methods that involve collaboration and co-development.

A review of the literature and practices found in other jurisdictions demonstrates that innovation labs are an essential mechanism to:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> i-teams: The teams and funds making innovation happen in governments around the world, <a href="https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/i-teams-the-teams-and-funds-making-innovation-happen-in-governments-around-the-world/">https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/i-teams-the-teams-and-funds-making-innovation-happen-in-governments-around-the-world/</a>, Nesta, June 27, 2014



6

- Break down departmental silos by supporting collaboration and integrating knowledge and expertise;
- Enable cross-disciplinary approaches to policy and services decision-making by enhancing opportunities for new insights, solutions and prototyping;
- Inject creativity and experimentation into the policy design process and bring design solutions to civic problems;
- Ingrain experimentation and risk-taking throughout government;
- Influence policymakers to understand their role in public service innovation;
- Promote best practices;
- Drive cultural change;
- Expose public servants to creativity and experimentation;
- Stimulate and create a Public Service that is more open to working with others to solve key societal challenges and to harness emerging opportunities;
- Tap into methods and skills usually not available in the public sector; and
- Acknowledge and address shortcoming in public sector innovation models.

The general premise underlying innovation labs is to move beyond a limited number of people working in isolation within an organization on innovation, towards teaching hundreds, if not thousands, of public servants to think like innovators and be open to experimentation in order to unlock creativity, foster experimentation and increase productivity.

Borrowing from the private sector, public sector organizations have been experimenting with innovation labs to create the conditions and work environments to inspire experimentation and innovation. Innovation labs provide opportunities to bring government and external partners together to learn from each other, make connections, develop new skills and be inspired to reach new levels. The literature review found that public sector organizations are increasingly building and experimenting with collaborative partnerships with both the private and not-for-profit sectors, who have shared interest in a competitive and thriving society and economy.

Most public-sector innovation initiatives emphasize real-world experimentation, participatory design, and user-driven co-creation/co-production with the direct involvement of citizens/stakeholders. Behavioural Insights, for example, are being embraced by many contemporary governments including the United Kingdom, United States of America, Australia, Denmark, Germany, France, Singapore and many other counties have found success in applying behavioral science insights into public policy development.

The evaluation did not find any overview or mapping of the Hub in relation to the broader innovation ecosystem and key partners it intended to work with to accomplish its objectives.

#### **Placement of Innovation Hubs**

A review of the literature demonstrates that the challenges and risks public sector innovation hubs encounter commonly stem from the following paradox: with closer proximity to the centre of government comes a greater ability to leverage resources and potentially greater access to leadership and administrative support to effect change, but this proximity may limit the ability to be truly innovative. The opposite is also true – a distance from government enables more autonomy, less bureaucracy and distance from the cultural, structural and procedural impediments to innovation that characterize the public sector, but greater autonomy may limit the resources and support needed to effect change. Interview consultations with Hub staff and project partners indicated that having the Hub located in the PCO helped increase the credibility of the innovation projects and helped build support among senior leaders. In many jurisdictions, a decision often has to be made between the necessity to effectively reconcile the high-level support that is needed with the desire to work at a distance from government to ensure a healthy degree of autonomy and enough flexibility to be innovative.

The review of the literature revealed that public sector innovation spaces are usually separate from the rest of the public sector to permit and support a sufficient degree of autonomy from the structural and procedural barriers to innovation that often characterize the public sector. These include: established operating rules, norms, policies, and protocols; large hierarchical and centralized bureaucratic structures characterized by stability and consistency; departmental silos and restricted ability to connect; limited network structures; a lack of competitive pressure to innovate that stems from the monopolistic nature of public sector organizations; and continued adherence to top-down approaches. A review of the literature illustrates that the most commonly encountered challenges and risks facing public sector innovation hubs stem from insufficient distance and autonomy from government and from the abovementioned structural and procedural impediments that characterize the public sector. For example, Tonurist, Kattel, and Lamber's (2015) study on 35 different public sector innovation hubs, identifies the following operational key tenants: (1) large autonomy in setting targets and working methods, (2) structural separation from the rest of the public sector and (3) the ability to attract external funding. McGann, Blomkamp, and Lewis' 2018 study of 19 different innovation labs found similar findings.

Below are some examples from the innovation labs identified in the literature:

- In Australia, the Policy Innovation and Projects Division is located in the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet, similar to Canada's PCO Central Innovation Hub.
- In the UK, Nesta Innovation began inside government but was eventually spun out as a non-profit foundation.
- The MindLab in Denmark was established between 3 Ministries (Note: in 2018 the MindLab was closed down and parts were evolved into a new Disruption Task Force).



#### **Evolving Mandate**

At the time of its establishment, there was a limited number of innovation labs across the federal government (estimated to be less than 5). The Hub was established to fill a niche: the need for a centralized player who was outward focused, horizontal, and driven to develop partnerships to test innovative approaches with other departments. Interview consultations revealed the Hub experienced some resistance to its establishment particularly among stakeholders in departments that were already experimenting with new approaches to policy and program design. Those interviewed noted that while the original mandate of the Hub was to be a convenor, connector, and a central resource for tools to help drive innovation, it became clear that there was less of a need for a 'hub' type function. There was a greater need for a more strategic role of removing barriers to innovation and working with partners to solve some of government's and society's most complex problems.

As detailed in the Effectiveness section below, the review of documentation and interview consultations showed that the Hub has been responsive to the needs of the federal Public Service, senior leaders and its partners; it has adapted, focusing its efforts and resources to address gaps and needs.

While there is no map of the federal innovation landscape, interview consultations with Hub staff indicate that today there are over 20 innovation labs/spaces across the federal government with some evolving into new models. For example, the Innovation Lab at Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada, which in 2017, announced it was co-locating with an Ottawa accelerator. Similarly, Nesta has spun out of the centre of government into a not-for-profit, and Denmark's MindLab's activities will be carried out through a new Disruption Task Force.



#### **Key Findings:**

- Up until the establishment of the Central Innovation Hub, the federal government was behind other international jurisdictions in the establishment of innovation labs as a mechanism to encourage and ignite innovative practices throughout the Public Service.
- Not surprisingly, all public sector innovation labs are generally established within government. However, with ongoing assessment of vision, mandate and impact, the evaluation has found that other jurisdictions have evolved both the direction, mandate and location of their labs. In addition, key operational factors that are evident in most labs around the world (that have been studied) were not found in the Hub (i.e., structural separation, autonomy, external funding sources).
- Based on feedback from those consulted, the Hub was adaptive and responsive to the needs of its stakeholders. Continued responsiveness and ability to pivot to meet shifting priorities and demands will be essential to the Hub/IIU's long-term sustainability and its ability to meet the evolving needs of the federal Public Service.
- There is no formal, cohesive map of the Hub's interactions within the broader innovation ecosystem in which the Hub operated. There is potential value from the IIU mapping its interactions with the broader innovation ecosystem (including committees, networks and other labs) that it intends to work with to effect change.

#### **EFFICIENCY**

#### Resources

The following table provides an overview of the resources allocated to the Innovation Hub:

**Table 1:** Innovation Hub Budget by Year and Source<sup>7</sup>

	2014-15	2015-16	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19	Total
Salaries/ Benefits	655,560	1,330,291	1,330,291	1,330,291	1,330,291	\$5,976,724
Operations/ Maintenance	379,294	304,329	304,329	304,329	304,329	\$1,596,610
Accommodations	71,019	144,115	144,115	144,115	144,115	\$647,479
Total <sup>8</sup>	1,105,873	1,778,735	1,778,735	1,778,735	1,778,735	\$8,220,813
	2014-15	2015-16	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19	Average
FTEs	3.87	8.5	8.5	8.5	8.5	7.6

Former Hub staff consulted for this evaluation indicated that in the first year of operations, the Hub invested the majority of its time in establishing the infrastructure and hiring staff. As the Hub became established, leaders recognized the need for different skill sets, particularly in the areas of communications and marketing. Once the Hub began undertaking outreach to departments and agencies, a large portion of the Hub's work focused on establishing partnerships to develop a shared understanding of what innovation means and its value in a public-sector context, and encouraging departments to take informed risks and undertake innovative and proof-of -concept projects.

Interview consultations indicated that having the Hub in place provided departments with access to internal expertise that would otherwise be contracted to external consultants. Interviews with staff indicate that as the demand for the Hub's support and expertise grew, it became increasingly clear that the Hub was unable to meet the demand for its services. In response to this demand and traditional delays in staffing, the Hub used alternative approaches to expand its capacity, within their budget constraints. These approaches include the creation of a pool of Trusted Advisors and, later, under the IIU, a Fellows Program.<sup>9</sup>

 The Trusted Advisors was a pool of unpaid experts that the Hub drew upon to provide a peer review function including feedback on the approach and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Fellows Program is outside the timeframe of the scope of this work.



11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This includes new and existing funding.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The numbers may not sum due to rounding.

- methodology of the Hub's experimentation or proof of concept projects, as well as review results and inform recommendations.
- The purpose of the IIU's Fellows program is to leverage resources from outside of the Public Service (e.g., academia, other sectors) for placements in departments as subject matter experts in fields that are currently underresourced. The cost of the fellows is charged back to participating departments. This approach allowed the IIU to manage risks associated with protracted staffing processes and meet departments' needs quicker. Currently there are four Behavioural Insights fellows in this program. This number is expected to increase to six in the coming months. Innovative Finance, Impact Measurement, and Data Science Fellows Streams are also planned.

## **Comparisons to other Jurisdictions**

While not an extensive review, the evaluation did attempt to take a snap shot of resources dedicated to similar functions/organizations in other jurisdictions. There are a few limitations to this review including:

- 1. The review was not extensive but rather limited to a snapshot of available information:
- 2. The level of demand for the Hub's services was not assessed; and
- 3. The comparisons are not made between like organizations given the differential approach applied in each jurisdiction.

During the evaluation, interview consultations (primarily internal) raised the issue that the Hub did not have sufficient resources to meet demand. When the information was examined based on resourcing of Behavioural Insights-related activities (compared to all of the Hub's activities), the evaluation found some initial indication that other jurisdictions appear to invest more resources in these activities. Examples are outlined below.

#### Behavioural Insights Group, British Columbia

The BC government has established the Behavioural Insights Group (BIG), which staffs seven full time positions (1 Executive Director; 1 Director; 2 Senior Behavioural Scientists; 2 Methods Specialists; 1 Knowledge Translator). It has an annual salaries and benefits budget of approximately \$630K as well as an annual operating budget of approximately \$300K to be used for obtaining contracted services from a pre-qualified supplier list, as well as travel, project work, IT support, conferences, etc. **NOTE:** BIG is only focused on behavioural insights and not on other areas such as user-centred design/design solutions and big data and data analytics.

#### MindLab, Denmark

The MindLab was established as part of three ministries (education, employment and business) and the Odense municipality. It is a cross-governmental innovation lab, which involves citizens and businesses in creating new solutions for societal problems. Initially, the MindLab was staffed with five, full-time employees with a variety of different formal skills ranging from creative facilitation, teambuilding, hosting, and policy



development. By 2006, the Lab was evaluated as being under-resourced to meet demand. In 2007, the MindLab increased their staff to 10 fulltime equivalent (FTEs) staff and increased their budget to 1 million EUR. MindLab was also a physical workshop space – intended as a neutral zone for inspiring creativity, innovation and collaboration. MindLab closed down in May of 2018 and, at the time, had over 40 FTEs. A part of the Lab's activities will be carried on in the new Disruption Task Force which will continue to focus on innovation and digital transformation.

#### Behavioural Economics Team, Australia

In Australia, the Behavioural Economics Team Australia (BETA) is focussed on behavioural science and insights. BETA has a budget of approximately \$4 million per year for the next two years. On top of this, BETA charges its partners for their contributions to projects and has a project revenue target of between \$1-\$1.5 million per year. BETA's average staffing level is approximately 27 FTEs.

BETA is located in the Policy Innovation and Projects Division within the department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet (PMC). Other parts of the Division include:

- Data and Digital Branch
- Project Office
- Office of the National Data Commissioner

The Policy Innovation and Projects Division provides new and creative approaches to policy development, data and digital policy, as well as applying behavioural economics to policy design. These other units have separate staffing and operating budgets.

#### Behavioural Insights Team, UK<sup>10</sup>

The Behavioural Insights Team (BIT) is a social purpose company that is jointly owned by the UK Government (Cabinet Office) and Nesta (the innovation charity); and by its employees.

When BIT was first established it was situated in 10 Downing Street. At the time, it was the world's first government institution dedicated to the application of behavioural sciences. Below are BIT's business objectives, which have remained constant overtime:

- make public services more cost-effective and easier for citizens to use;
- improve outcomes by introducing a more realistic model of human behaviour to policy; and, wherever possible,
- enable people to make 'better choices for themselves'.

BIT is focused on redesigning public services based on ideas from the behavioural science literature. Their trials are highly empirical and BIT tests and trials these ideas so partners understand what works and what doesn't before ideas are scaled up.

BIT has approximately 150 employees, who have either a strong academic grounding in economics, psychology, research methods and/or a background in government

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Source: https://www.behaviouralinsights.co.uk/about-us/



\_

policymaking. Today BIT is located outside government with its headquarters in London and with offices in Manchester, New York, Singapore and Sydney.

Recently BIT established BI Ventures, a team within BIT, which works on building scalable digital products that address social issues. BI Ventures currently has three revenue-generating products in its portfolio, with more in development. BI Ventures builds products using ideas that have been generated within the BIT and uses behavioural insights to design and build scalable products and services that have social impact. BI Ventures has rigorous process of conducting large-scale trials that then go through a process of prototyping and piloting before tests are scaled to a product.

#### **Key Findings:**

- The Hub was efficient in the use of its limited resources and has found innovative solutions to its resource and capacity constraints. As demand for the Hub's services outstripped capacity, the Hub introduced innovative solutions such as the Trusted Advisors and Fellow's Program that allowed the Hub to leverage external expertise to peer review proposed projects and provide expert guidance and supports to projects.
- The Hub may have been under-resourced given its current level of resources in relation to demand and potential impact. A high-level comparison to other jurisdictions tends to support this assertion; however, further and more in-depth analysis is required.

#### **EFFECTIVENESS**

## **Achievement of Short Term and Operational Outcomes**

There is evidence that progress was made towards the achievement of short term and operational outcomes as follows.

The Hub worked with federal partners to identify, plan, and implement projects. By 2015-2016, the Hub had completed four pilot projects in the areas of design-thinking and Behavioural Insights. By the following year, the Hub was exploring a potential 15 projects with 11 departments. Between 2015-2017, the Hub undertook a total of 16 projects. Interview consultations and a review of program documentation found evidence that the Hub worked with its partners to develop a project selection process based on government priorities; the partners' willingness to explore new ideas and engage directly with the public; as well as involving a design-oriented change that could result in significant improvements in the lives of citizens.

In the early days of the Hub, project selection was based primarily on departments that would engage with PCO and projects that were typically less risky and where practices in other jurisdictions had already demonstrated impact. However, as the Hub undertook initiatives and partnership projects that demonstrated learning and impact, demand has continued to grow for the Hub services to the point where it outstripped capacity. Interviews with staff indicated that they are now able to be more selective of which projects to support, based on the process noted above. With increasing demand, the Hub adhered to its approved project selection criteria which helped ensure the achievement of the shorter-term outcome that efficiency would not be the only driver in project selection.

It was expected that each of the Hub's partnership engagement/projects would be reviewed by the Hub and its partners and that each project would deliver timely advice to strengthen policy and program outcomes. The Hub had a standard operating procedure of planning and reviewing the outcomes of projects it supports. There was a report produced from each project that provides an overview of the project, key findings, recommendations, and future research opportunities. These reports are published on the IIU's public-facing website. The IIU and its partners leverage opportunities to present the findings, learning and recommendations from the projects with communities of practices and other learning events.

#### **Key Findings:**

 There is evidence that the Hub achieved its short term and operational objectives.



## **Progress Towards the Achievement of Longer Term Outcomes**

The evaluation sought to confirm if the Hub was on track towards the achievement of its longer-term outcomes; recognizing that the Hub was not expected to fully achieve these outcomes in the short term. These longer-term outcomes are outlined below:

- 1. Evidence that new tools and approaches are embedded in the policy development and delivery process system-wide;
- 2. Evidence mechanisms are established to spread successful innovation across the portfolios (e.g., Hub reports, interdepartmental communities of practice);
- Evidence that positive policies are in place to provide authority for departments to use new and innovative approaches in policy, regulations, programs and services: and
- 4. Evidence that Canada, through the Hub, is an active member of the international community of practice and network of innovation lab.

 $\sqrt{}$  1.There is evidence that the work of the Innovation Hub contributed to the adoption of new tools and approaches embedded in the policy development and delivery process in use in the Government of Canada.

The literature review identified several common leading approaches and tools to support innovations in public programs and services. For example, in the theoretical/conceptual literature on public sector innovation, there is a prevailing emphasis on human-centered design concepts and methods. In addition, in the case studies on public sector innovation initiatives, there is a clear emphasis on real-world experimentation (see Bliss, Bliss and Nidhi, 2014), participatory design and user-driven co-creation/co-production with citizens/stakeholders (see Almirall and Esteve, 2012).

The Hub's 2017-18 Performance Measurement Strategy explains that the "Hub provided access to new and innovative tools, approaches and techniques in its core practice areas to help public servants apply them to their work". These included Behavioural Insights; design thinking and leveraging multiple and big data sources as well as the provision of training sessions, workshops or conferences, and/or support material provided through the Hub's website.

As mentioned previously, the former Hub staff also partnered with departments to cocreate and develop innovative policies and programs using new tools and approaches. While the examples below are nested in the Hub's core Behavioural Insights business line, many projects included collaboration between other Hub practice areas.

Randomized Controlled Trials were the technique used most frequently to assess the possible impact of proposed innovations to programs and service.

The Hub entered into partnerships with a number of departments to undertake projects that tested innovative approaches; some of which included the use of Randomized



Controlled Trials.<sup>11</sup> Specifically, Behavioural Insights Randomized Controlled Trials were used to test and measure whether innovations improve outcomes such as the uptake of the Canada Learning Bond, Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC)<sup>12</sup> and increase uptake of the Statistics Canada Farm Financial Survey,<sup>13</sup> both of which used stratified random sampling to compare results from the use of different messaging and imaging. In the case of the Canada Learning Bond, while the program was already experimenting with nudge theory, the partnership expanded the tools (such as tear away vouchers and client focused checklists) and approaches to reaching targeted audiences/stakeholder groups (e.g., outreach).

ESDC has continued to advance this work forward through their own Innovation Lab, which was established at roughly the same time as the Hub. As part of this project, the Hub also worked with the Government of Ontario as a third partner to explore the inclusion of RESP enrolment in the Service Ontario's 4-in-1 Birth Bundle program. Interview consultations with ESDC revealed that its internal Innovation Lab took the successes and lessons learned from this initiative and have been looking to apply the learning in other program areas such as Old Age Security and services to Indigenous communities.

Based on the success of the Farm Financial Survey, Statistics Canada has expressed an interest to pursue further work with the Hub's Behavioural Insights team on more high-impact projects.

The Behavioural Insights team, in partnership with the Department of National Defence (DND), also conducted Behavioural Insights research into the factors that influence women to decide to join the Canadian Armed Forces. This research led to a second project that was based on a social media marketing trial. The project was designed to use targeted social media messaging (testing both image and message congruence to identify ads that engaged individuals within the targeted demographic i.e., females). This work developed into a more long-term engagement between PCO and DND and this collaboration is currently moving into the third phase. Based on the success of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Haris Khan, Elizabeth Hardy, Engaging Canadian Women with a Career in the Armed Forces, https://www.canada.ca/en/innovation-hub/services/reports-resources/engaging-women-career-armed-forces.html, Impact and Innovation Unit, Government of Canada, Last Modified August 1, 2018



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> A complete list of partnership projects reviewed under this evaluation can be found in Appendix C

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Elizabeth Hardy, Haris Khan, Mathieu Audet, and Monica Soliman, *Increasing Take-Up of the Canada Learning Bond – August 2018*, https://www.canada.ca/en/innovation-hub/services/reports-resources/behavioural-insights-project.html, Impact and Innovation Unit, Government of Canada, Last Modified August 1, 2018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Increasing Response Rates to a Statistics Canada Survey – July 2017, https://www.canada.ca/en/innovation-hub/services/reports-resources/increasing-response-rates-statistics-canada-survey-july-2017.html, Impact and Innovation Unit, Government of Canada, Last Modified October 21, 2018

project, DND has created its own Innovation for Defence Excellence and Security (IDEaS) Program, which will seek to build capacity through innovation.<sup>15</sup>

The work on **Design Thinking** looked at specific problems from the perspectives of the end-user. For example, in collaboration with Natural Resources Canada, Hub staff first gathered fact-based insights into how people use energy in their home. These insights were used to frame a project, followed by an exploration of how to tailor incentives to citizens' energy needs to reduce consumption. The Hub also partnered with Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC) to put in place a "user centred" design challenge to improve the application process for the Family Class Sponsorship clients. To disseminate findings and results, IRCC created change leaders who returned to their units and shared their new knowledge about user-centred design.

While projects in this practice area have been primarily exploratory, the Hub's experience with Design Thinking led to the conclusion that it is more effective when incorporated with other approaches. Based on these learnings, components of Design Thinking have been integrated into future Behavioural Insights projects, rather than through stand-alone projects. For example, the formation of ideas has been incorporated into some of the Behavioural Insights projects.

Within the domain of **big data and analytics**, the Hub explored a project, in partnership with Health Canada, to undertake web scraping of data from online sales reviews and other social media tools as a way of creating a surveillance system to monitor and detect dangerous toys and health products for Health Canada. While this project was viewed as leading edge, it did encounter a number of barriers related to privacy and access to data. The conceptual exploration, therefore, did not transfer into the project phase. While this initiative was mentioned in the Hub's 2015-2016 Annual Report, there was no other reference to the outcomes of this initiative. Similar to Design thinking, data and analytics are being integrated into multi-disciplinary projects that include the other core practice areas.

The literature review demonstrated that these techniques have gained increasing penetration in the policy world during the time period of the evaluation and had been previously tested by governments which are further ahead in establishing innovation labs including the UK, US and Denmark. These tools were also already being tested by a limited number of federal departments who were undertaking some Behavioural Insights trials in order to improve program design and outcomes. Interview consultations with Hub staff and project partners indicate that the Hub helped advance these tools

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Innovation for Defence Excellence and Security (IDEaS) Program, https://www.canada.ca/en/department-national-defence/news/2018/04/innovation-for-defence-excellence-and-security-ideas-program.html, National Defense, Government of Canada, April 9, 2018



and their testing in a federal context and to support more rigorous and outcomes-based evaluation methods.

Evidence from the interviews, file and documentation review indicate that early in its establishment, the Hub provided strategic policy advice to senior officials, such as preparing transition documents, as well as strategic advice in areas such as open policy making and digital engagement. It also developed publications and communications products, such as an article in Policy Options from the former Clerk of the Privy Council on public sector innovation, <sup>16</sup> and contributed material for numerous speeches. (Source: Innovation Hub - Annual Report - 2015-2016).

Partners in the Hub's project indicated that the Hub supported projects led to innovative program design and testing and ultimately these learnings were transferred to other program and service areas and improved policy and program outcomes. In addition, the sharing of results from these projects created greater interest and demand in working with the IIU moving forward.

 $\sqrt{}$  2. There is evidence that mechanisms were established that contribute to the successful diffusion of innovation across the portfolios (e.g., Hub reports, interdepartmental communities of practice).

The Hub provided federal government departments with resources and guides to support innovation; links to articles and podcasts; consultation and business advisory services; and expert advice in applying innovation to policy development and service delivery.

In addition, the following activities undertaken or managed by the Hub were mechanisms that were established to spread innovation across the portfolios and are further evidence of key partners and influencers that the Hub works with to effect change.

**Deputy Minister Committee on Policy Innovation**: The Deputy Minister Committee on Policy Innovation examined trends and technologies with the potential to strengthen or transform policy development and delivery, and tested and assessed innovative approaches that may have enhanced policy outcomes. Although this Committee was founded by the Clerk of the Privy Council, the Hub managed the secretariat function for the Committee and presented on Hub-supported work when it was available; provided guidance on strategic policy issues (e.g., impact of sharing economy, innovative use of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Janice Charette, "Preparing Canada's public service to meet the challenge," http://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/clearing-the-air/charette/, Policy Options, July 6, 2015



19

Grants and Contributions; and sought feedback on key initiatives (e.g., Impact Canada Initiative).

**Note:** The Deputy Minister Committee on Policy Innovation has evolved into the Deputy Ministers Task Force on Public Sector Innovation (Task Force), of which the IIU is the Secretariat. It is mandated to "play an action-oriented role in experimenting with emerging tools and approaches and helping provide public servants with the skills and knowledge to achieve better results for Canadians." Its work supports departmental examination of emerging trends and technologies, core systems transformation, and experimenting with disruptive technologies within government.<sup>17</sup>

Assistant Deputy Minister (ADM) Committee on Experimentation: The Committee was established to advance the experimentation direction to Deputy Ministers (discussed later in the report) as a horizontal mechanism to support mutual learning, collaboration, and partnerships between Committee members. The Committee is also open to guests by invitation to provide alternate perspectives or expertise. Committee materials and insights are available to all public servants. The Committee was established by PCO (through the Hub). Today, the IIU jointly holds secretariat duties with TBS.

Behavioural Insights Community of Practice (BICoP): In 2016, the Hub supported the launch and operations of the Behavioural Economics Community of Practice, an interdepartmental network of behavioural insights researchers and practitioners across the federal government. It originally began as a Community of 20 members, at the Director General level, and focussed narrowly on Behavioural Economics. This community of practice has evolved into the BICoP, a horizontal network of employees, practitioners and researchers across the federal government. The BICoP share information, research methodologies, and experimentation results with a broader Behavioural Insights mandate open to all levels with the federal Public Service. The Hub co-chaired this Community of Practice along with a rotating chair. In addition to sharing information about innovative approaches, tools, and techniques, the BICoP has also held workshops on tools and practices (e.g., randomized control trials). Today it continues to be co-chaired by the IIU, has over 400 members and an online presence.

A similar model is now being explored for challenges/prizes based on the success of this format.

**Behavioural Insights Network (BIN):** In the third quarter of 2016, the Innovation Hub began outreach to develop an external Behavioural Insights Network, intended to bring together players across governments working in the field of Behavioural Insights. A first meeting of this network took place in early 2017. The Network was intended to foster stronger communications and collaboration in behavioural insights, provides a forum to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Networks / Partnerships, <a href="https://www.canada.ca/en/innovation-hub/services/networks-partnerships.html">https://www.canada.ca/en/innovation-hub/services/networks-partnerships.html</a>, Impact and Innovation Unit, Government of Canada, Last Modified August 24, 2018



-

share experiences, make linkages and explore potential partnerships. Six provinces, one territory and three municipalities participated in the inaugural meeting which took place in early 2017.

Presentations/workshops: In addition to presenting to the committees listed above, Hub staff engaged with other departments and agencies to provide presentations and workshops on the innovative tools and approaches they were using as well as results of projects undertaken to date. Interviewees from Canada Learning Bond, DND and Statistics Canada projects indicated that the results from these projects have been presented often – both in the departments who co-designed the work and beyond (including the BIN and BICoP) to share the results, key lessons learned and to raise interest in the broader applicability of the methods and/or results. While Hub staff often undertook these presentations, the collaborating department also undertook some of these communications and dissemination activities.

In addition, the Hub helped organize workshops with key partners. Two examples include:

#### BICoP Design Jam

- July 5, 2015 Hosted at ESDC Innovation Lab (also facilitated by ESDC)
- 50-60 attendees

#### **BICoP** Randomized Controlled Trial workshops

- Sept 6, 2017
- co-facilitated by Hub and ESDC Lab
- 45 attendees

A second workshop was organized in September 2018.

Within the federal innovation ecosystem, while the Hub participated in and supported a number of conferences, meetings and networks, there appears to be a gap in the formal learning and development of skills and competencies (that support innovation) of public servants; either through the Hub, the Canada School of Public Service, or others within the system.

The Hub has also worked in the open, making materials available to all public servants, and putting a great deal of it on the Hub's public-facing website. The Hub co-designed and delivered innovative projects that were intended to impact policy and service delivery within departments. From these projects, case study reports were developed and posted on the Hub's public-facing website. For a time, the Hub had a podcast (Tracked Changes) and the IIU now continues to maintain a blog section on the website. Hub staff and the advisory committee were also forward facing, with biographies and descriptions available on the website. This approach is consistent with the 2016 Interim Directive on the Administration of the Access to Information Act and the principle of "open by default".



While the annual reports and case study reports that were developed during the two years of this evaluation do well at articulating the successes of the Hub, and, while there is some reporting on areas where there is no discernible impact (null report), there was an absence of material outlining and recognizing failures or challenges experienced within projects. As previously noted, the Hub was established at PCO to send a strong signal across government of the importance of experimentation and innovation – recognizing and communicating projects that have come up short on results is part of the process, as is learning from failures. For example, the Hub's 2015-2016 Annual Report indicated that it was exploring with Health Canada analyzing data from online retailers as an early warning in relation to product safety. This project is never highlighted again in subsequent reports nor is a case study report made available online.

To more fully spread a culture of innovation and experimentation across the federal government, the IIU would do well to be more open about challenges experienced during the design or implementation of supported projects including those that simply did not lead to expected results. By sharing limitations, barriers and failures from projects, the IIU would acknowledge all potential outcomes of innovative policy and service delivery work, demonstrating that experimentation and innovation does not always breed success or lead to better outcomes.

 $\sqrt{}$  3. There is evidence that positive policies are in place to provide authority for departments to use new and innovative approaches in policy, regulations and program and services.

Interview consultations indicated that during the initial years of the Hub's operations, there were a number of barriers to experimenting and testing innovative solutions to public policy issues and programs that were identified (e.g., procurement policies, transfer payments terms and conditions, human resource capacity, horizontal rigidity, risk aversion).

The Hub worked with key partners and, in consultation with the Deputy Minister Committee on Policy Innovation, identified a number of barriers to innovation ranging from policies, terms and conditions, HR, IT, procedural and cultural.

Below are some of the areas where the Hub was identified by stakeholders as contributing to or leading to the development of innovative approaches.

The first is the **Experimentation Direction for Deputy Heads**, co-authored by the Secretary of the Treasury Board and the Deputy Secretary of Results and Delivery (PCO) in December of 2016. This direction provided greater information on expectations of departments to help meet the Treasury Board President's mandate letter commitment to ensure that Deputy Heads identify a fixed percentage of program funds be put toward experimentation, and to also report on their efforts in Departmental Plans. In addition, departments sought to foster work environments conducive to experimentation, and



report on results regardless of the outcome, with a default to public release. The Hub played a co-secretariat role with TBS to the ADM Committee on Experimentation. This Direction was supported by senior leadership at the Innovation Hub (currently the IIU) at PCO.

The second is the **Declaration on Public Sector Innovation**, which was signed by each of the Federal, Provincial, and Territorial Clerks and Cabinet Secretaries on November 14, 2017, outlining the actions they would take to support public-sector innovation. The Hub/IIU led the drafting of this Declaration. Key commitments among the partners include: seeking new ways to solve complex problems, experimenting and sharing knowledge, collaborating together and more broadly with stakeholders, working on outcomes-based funding models, and establishing partnerships.

#### **Policy Changes**

The Hub influenced a number of significant policy changes. In 2016, the Deputy Minister Committee on Policy Innovation directed the Hub to research and examine barriers to innovation specifically in relation to Grants and Contributions. The Hub was part of an inter-departmental working group that included TBS and large Grants and Contributions departments and the Hub. The Working Group identified the terms and conditions for Grants and Contributions agreements as restricting new approaches to experimentation, and the formation of partnerships with the private sector. This ultimately led to a commitment from TBS to draft **Generic Terms and Conditions** that created authorities, provisions, and exceptions in Grants and Contributions programs to allow for greater experimentation. Three specific categories have been approved, effective April 1, 2017, and will be leveraged over the course of the 5-year pilot, led by TBS:

- 1. Incentive-based funding mechanisms;
- 2. Prizes/challenges; and
- 3. Micro-funding. 19

These tools, having already been tested in other jurisdictions, are viewed by all of those consulted as a critical step forward in transitioning away from activity-based funding models towards models based on the achievement of concrete goals and results.

#### **Impact Canada**

Based on best practices in other jurisdictions, and building on the innovative Grants and Contributions work referenced above, the Hub led research to explore the possibility of establishing a program to accelerate the adoption of experimental interventions, innovation, challenges and prizes; outcomes-based funding; a platform to support the program; and new impact measurement methodologies in Government.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Federal, Provincial and Territorial Declaration on Public Sector Innovation, https://www.canada.ca/en/innovation-hub/services/Federal-Provincial-Territorial-Declaration-Public-Sector-Innovation.html, Impact and Innovation Unit, Government of Canada, Last Modified November14, 2017
<sup>19</sup> Enabling the innovative use of Transfer Payments, https://www.canada.ca/en/treasury-board-secretariat/services/innovation/enabling-innovative-use-transfer-payments.html, Treasury Board Secretariat, Government of Canada, Last Modified October 23, 2017



Between August 2016 and November 2017 [\*], the Hub had three FTEs (full time equivalents) working on this initiative, which was a significant portion of the Hub's resources. The Hub developed the business case [\*] to establish the Impact Canada Initiative within PCO. This was a significant undertaking particularly given that these functions are not typically carried out by PCO and they were not resourced for this type of work. [\*]. Ultimately, this gave new focus to the Hub's mandate and helped introduce new tools and broader concepts.

In November 2017, the Hub was re-mandated as the IIU and the name change reflects the Unit's evolving mandate, which includes housing the Impact Canada Initiative's challenge platform in partnership with Government of Canada departments.

The IIU will act as a Centre of Expertise to support departments' use of outcomesbased funding mechanisms, impact measurement techniques and behavioural insights to achieve better results for Canadians in priority areas.

**Impact Canada** is a whole-of-government effort designed to help departments accelerate the adoption of outcomes-based approaches that are intended to deliver meaningful results to Canadians. Impact Canada promotes the use of a range of innovative approaches that are enabled through the flexible terms and conditions, including:

- Challenges Issuing prizes for whoever can first or most effectively find a solution to a defined problem, and/or making use of structured, open competitions to solicit proposals to fund the best ideas with the potential to solve thematic problems.
- Pay-for-Results Using customized instruments to shift the focus towards issuing payments based on funding recipients achieving positive and measureable societal outcomes (e.g., social impact bonds, pay-for-success mechanisms).

The Government of Canada created the Impact Canada Initiative to help fund and support those initiatives that utilize these innovative approaches. Impact Canada and supporting changes have provided a pathway to allocate funds towards experimentation and innovation. The initial areas of focus for Impact Canada are: the Smart Cities Challenge, Clean Tech Impact, Responding to Canada's Opioid Crisis, and Improving Indigenous Outcomes

As noted by two senior level interviewees, the creation of Impact Canada was a significant undertaking for the Hub given its relatively small team. The flexible/whole-of-government terms and conditions and the creation of Impact Canada are seen as defining steps towards creating the conditions for a Public Service that is enabled, open to and supportive of innovation.

 $\sqrt{}$  4. There is evidence that Canada, through the Hub, was an active member of the international community of practice and network of innovation lab.

Interview consultations and the documentation review revealed that the Hub invested in outreach and the establishment and broadening of networks to help advance the public-sector innovation agenda in Canada.

Evidence from the evaluation indicate that the Hub has helped expand Canada's presence and raise Canada's profile internationally as a leader in the field of public sector innovation. Representatives from the Hub were invited to present at international conferences and meet with representatives of central agencies and cabinet offices from other countries.

During 2015-2016, the Hub established connections with public practitioners at the White House and the World Bank and it conducted outreach with other international innovation-oriented organizations such as MindLab, Nesta, etc. (Innovation Hub - Annual Report - 2015-2016).

In order to bring in external expertise, the Hub launched an Advisory Committee in August 2016 which included leading international academics and practitioners in behavioural insights and design. Its purpose was to "provide an opportunity for the Hub to better assist clients through expanded resources, networks, and additional targeted expertise." (Q3 Management Report – December 31, 2016).

In 2016, a representative of the Hub, presented an overview of public sector innovation landscape in the Government of Canada; as well as Canada's approach to innovation and results to the OECD's Observatory on Public Sector Innovation (OPSI) as well as partnering to undertake a cross-government innovation review.

In May 2017, a representative from the Hub spoke at the OECD Conference on Behavioural Insights. The Government of Canada, through the PCO Innovation Hub, cochaired of the OECD Public Observatory for Public Sector Innovation National Contact Points, a network of OECD member countries actively engaged in public sector innovation. At the time, the Hub was working to finalize a partnership agreement with the OECD and Nesta to help advance innovation inside the federal government (March 2017; Meeting notes BICoP April 26 – Final), which is now in place. Hub staff collaborated with Bloomberg Philanthropies in the US and Nesta in the UK on innovative finance and challenges/prizes. The Hub also worked with the MaRS Solutions Labs to better understand the role of design in public policy and to assess the impact of federal innovation hubs and labs.

In addition, the OECD, through the Observatory of Public Sector Innovation, has recently launched an Innovation Skills Builders Group in which Canada participates.

In supplement to external speaking engagements, the Hub invited representatives of other innovation labs to speak in Canada. Some examples include:

**ADM Committee** 



 Simetrica (private company in UK) presented to the Committee on Designing a Strategy to Support the Impact Canada Fund (May 17, 2017)

Deputy Minister Committee on Policy Innovation

- [\*] MaRS Solutions Lab presented on bringing discipline to public innovation (Dec 16, 2016).
- A presentation from [\*] Nesta, who spoke about future directions in the areas of social innovation, social finance and experimentation, and offer insights into the Government of Canada's work in these areas (March 28, 2017).
- [\*] Solutions, Development & Innovation, 100 Resilient Cities, The Rockefeller Foundation presented to the CMCPI on June 30, 2017.
- Simetrica (private company in UK) presented on Designing a Strategy to Support the Impact Canada Fund (May 18, 2017).
- McKinsey and Company made a presentation on disruptive technologies in government (Nov 10, 2017).

There was also recognition that being a central agency of a federal government does help raise the international profile of the Hub and increases the uptake of Canadian research. The Hub also coordinated federal-provincial-territorial public service efforts through an annual federal-provincial-territorial Clerks and Cabinet Secretaries Conference on Policy Innovation. To date, three conferences have been organized.

While it was recognized that the UK and Australia were ahead of Canada in 2015, a number of interviewees noted that Canada has increased its profile on the international stage and this was attributed to the work of the Hub.

#### **Key Findings:**

- There is evidence that the Hub worked with other federal partners to co-design and test Behavioural Insights and design-thinking in order to have a greater impact on program and service delivery. While approaches such as design-thinking and Behavioural Insights were emerging on the federal scene prior to the establishment of the Hub, the Hub brought more evidence-based rigor to the assessment of impact and more capacity to run the trials/proofs of concept.
- The Hub provided federal government departments with resources and guides to support innovation; links to articles and podcasts; consultation and business advisory services; and expert advice in applying innovation to policy development and service delivery. Lessons learned, best practices and expertise were shared across a number of federal and intergovernmental, committees, task forces and communities of practice. The Hub helped develop these networks, which are critical to knowledge exchange and transfer. The evaluation has noted that, moving forward, the IIU could do more to openly share lessons learned and challenges experienced during the design or implementation of projects that did not lead to expected results; as well as support the development of skills and competencies that support innovation.
- The IIU should continue to expand the network of stakeholders and experts engaged in its work
  including recognized expertise from the private and non-profit sector. Impact Canada is viewed
  as a critical step towards achieving this.
- There is clear evidence that the Hub contributed to positive policies that provide authority for departments to use new and innovative approaches in policy, regulations, programs and services. The strongest example is the drafting and approval of flexible/whole-of-government terms and conditions for Grants and Contributions which created the environment to permit prize/challenges and incentive- based funding to reward innovative solutions to complex public policy challenges. The approval of the new Terms and Conditions created the foundations to support the work of Impact Canada.
- There is evidence that the Hub's investment in outreach with other jurisdictions contributed to Canada becoming an active member of the international community of practice and network on innovation and innovation labs. In addition, the Hub invited representatives from other innovation labs to speak in Canada.

## **CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

## Relevancy

The evaluation found that the Hub/IIU continues to have a relevant role in supporting government priorities by helping create a Public Service that is agile, as well as capable and supported in undertaking experimentation and igniting innovation. A key strength of the Hub/IIU is its ability to work with partners to co-design projects that challenge and test traditional policy, program and service design by testing alternatives. The IIU continues to focus on high impact and top line government priorities, as well as selecting projects that are a good investment; ones that allow government to springboard into new programs and services and/or are scalable across government.

The Hub's approach was aligned with other international jurisdictions and the evolution of the IIU will continue to bring Canada closer to leaders in public sector innovation. There are opportunities to further disrupt the system and take innovation challenges to the next level. Impact Canada is expected to support this continued evolution.

The Hub was purposely placed at the centre of government to send a clear message across the Public Service of the importance of experimentation and innovation; to drive innovation and change; to help remove systemic barriers; and build capability to deal with complex problems. The Hub leadership recognized the importance of reflecting on its own placement, mandate and usefulness, and have evolved in response to changing needs during the evaluation period. This responsiveness has resulted in the remandating of the Hub as the IIU with an evolved mandate as described previously in this report.

#### Recommendations

It is recommended that the IIU:

- Utilize the Deputy Ministers' Task Force on Public Sector Innovation as a venue to:
  - Tackle complex problems from a systems level.
  - Work with its partners to keep up, if not ahead, of the speed of transformation. This requires looking beyond innovation methods at the program level to system level change.
  - Work collaboratively within established networks to identify and remove impediments to innovation. These include: cultural, procedural, policy and resource capacity (such as IT system and HR).
- Map its relationships to the broader innovation ecosystem (including committees, networks and other labs) that the IIU intends to work with to achieve outcomes.
   This will be helpful to the IIU as it continues to evolve and in measuring its results.



## **Efficiency**

The Hub invested a great deal of time in the start-up phase and there is evidence that these efforts have increased buy-in and support its work. Today the IIU is working with an increasing number of federal departments and agencies to test Behavioural Insights and prize/challenges approaches.

From an efficiency perspective, there is no reason for every department and agency to operate in isolation when developing capacity and testing innovative approaches to complex problems. There continues to be a central role for the IIU in developing relationships and networks, conducting innovative tests/proof of concepts projects, sharing learnings, and together, with key partners, being a catalyst for change.

For a small but growing group, it is clear that the Hub was, and the IIU continues to be innovative in how it uses its own resources and leverages external resources to 'punch above its weight' in order to have the greatest impact. Further investigation is required to assess the appropriate resource levels to meet demand as well as the impact of introducing a cost recovery model.

#### Recommendations

It is recommended that the IIU:

- Expand its network of experts and collaborative partnerships to include experts in the private and not-for-profit sectors, who have shared interest in a competitive and thriving society and economy.
- Put in place a process to track demand for IIU services in relation to resources to
  ensure there is sufficient capacity to meet the needs within the federal Public
  Service. This might require a more in-depth review of the level of resources that
  are required to fully deliver on its mandate in light of expected demand. Any
  future assessment of resourcing levels should include an assessment of a cost
  recovery model.

## **Effectiveness**

The evaluation found evidence that the Hub has achieved its short-term and operational outcomes and the IIU is on track to achieve its longer-term outcomes.

There is evidence to demonstrate that the Hub has created and tested new tools and approaches and that these are becoming embedded in the policy development and delivery process system-wide. When the Hub was introduced, some departments were already testing Behavioural Insights and design-thinking; however, it was recognized that the Hub brought an appropriate level of rigour as well as new ideas/tools that could be tested. There is evidence that the Hub had an impact on its partners given that a number are continuing to advance innovative projects that were co-designed and delivered with the Hub and have transferred the learning to other policy/program areas. There are a number of networks and mechanisms in place to exchange information and best practices and spread successful experimentation and innovation across the

portfolio. These mechanisms include DM and ADM Committees, communities of practices that target employees at all levels, and other resources. The Hub did well in promoting its many successes, however, moving forward, more could be done by the IIU to highlight areas where projects or partnerships faced challenges. This would provide a signal that innovation is not synonymous with success. The Hub was also an active member of the international community of practice and network of innovation labs.

There is solid evidence that positive policies are in place to provide authority for departments to use new and innovative approaches to the design of policies, regulations, programs and services. These include the Declaration of Public Sector Innovation; the Experimentation Direction; terms and conditions for Grants and Contributions; and the Impact Canada Initiative which allows for more innovative approaches to solving significant policy challenges (these include prizes and incentive-based funding models).

The evaluation did not find evidence of a data collection plan to support the Performance Measurement Strategy; however, it may have been developed after the period under evaluation.

#### Recommendations

It is recommended that the IIU:

- Use the annual reports to publish all information related to the projects it supports (that move beyond the expression of interest stage) in order to showcase what has worked, transfer knowledge, and – more importantly – to share lessons learned and identify system-level barriers to innovation. This will send a powerful message and will help create an environment which demonstrates that informed risk-taking and failure is part of the process and an important part of the learning process.
- Focus on building capacity and scaling up innovation by leveraging networks and existing communities of practices such as Policy, HR and Regulatory. Bring together key stakeholders that would directly benefit from a deeper discussion of findings and how they might apply the findings in different areas. Expand the use of learning events such as the Randomized Controlled Trials workshop.
- [\*] as part of ongoing operational planning, develop key performance indicators that measure activities and outcomes and ensure that data and information are being collected on a regular basis to inform ongoing monitoring and reporting on demand for services and results. Given that the IIU is part of the Results and Delivery Unit, it has a leadership role in establishing a plan with detailed indicators that measure change at the system levels. Note: In June 2018, the IIU launched its Theory of Change as the framework for planning and measuring results. According to the IIU, the Theory of Change has helped the Unit build consensus and articulate the systems changes, it, and its partners, are seeking to achieve and how they will be realized. The Unit further committed to move the Theory of Change into action by rolling out the monitoring and developmental evaluation strategies.

## MANAGEMENT RESPONSE AND ACTION PLAN

# Relevance

#### Recommendations

Utilize the Deputy Ministers' Task Force on Public Sector Innovation as a venue to:

- Tackle complex problems from a systems level.
- Work with its partners to keep up, if not ahead, of the speed of transformation. This requires looking beyond innovation methods at the program level to system level change.
- Work collaboratively within established networks to identify and remove impediments to innovation.
   These include: cultural, procedural, policy and resource capacity (such as IT system and HR).

#### Management Response and Action Plan

#### Agreed

As secretariat to the DM Task Force on Public Sector Innovation, the IIU will continue to provide leadership in helping it make concrete and sustainable change at a systems level.

In managing the first cohort of GC Entrepreneurs, the IIU is guiding them to address challenges to systems-level problems in the areas of HR, procurement and Grants and Contributions programming, as well as projects exploring the application of disruptive technologies like Blockchain, AI and real time data collection. Examples of these include:

- Pay-for-results projects in the areas of opioid detection technology, and improving access to perishable food in the north
- Innovative approaches to enabling cross-sector mobility
- Development of a technology-based workplace wellness initiatives intended to better understand and enhance workplace well-being in the federal public service
- Exploring the use of distributed ledger technology (e.g., Blockchain) to improve service to Canadians
- Piloting the use of innovative technologies (e.g., Al) for machine-based translations

#### Target Date

Ongoing as this is intrinsic to the lead role of the Impact and Innovation Unit.

#### Position Responsible

Assistant Secretary, Impact and Innovation Unit

Map its relationships to the broader innovation ecosystem (including committees, networks and other labs) that the IIU intends to work with to

#### Agreed

The IIU will produce a one page graphic outlining the relationship of the IIU vis-à-vis other actors in the broader federal innovation ecosystem.

	achieve outcomes. This will be helpful to the IIU as it continues to evolve and in measuring its results.	Target Date March 2019  Position Responsible Assistant Secretary, Impact and Innovation Unit		
Efficiency	Expand its network of experts and collaborative partnerships to include experts in the private and not-for-profit sectors, who have shared interest in a competitive and thriving society and economy.	Agreed On November 1, 2018, the IIU held the inaugural meeting of its new Impact Canada Advisory Committee. This committee is expressly designed to draw in domestic and international private, not-for-profit, as well as academic expertise to guide efforts of the Impact Canada Initiative.  Target Date		
		November 2018 - Completed  Position Responsible Assistant Secretary, Impact and Innovation Unit		
	Put in place a process to track demand for IIU services in relation to resources to ensure there is sufficient capacity to meet the needs within the federal Public Service. This might require a more in-depth review of the level of resources that are required to fully deliver on its mandate in light of expected demand. Any future assessment of resourcing levels should include an assessment of a cost recovery model.	Agreed The IIU has put in place an Expression of Interest process, which allows IIU to formally track and assess service demands from potential federal partners.  Target Date October 2018 - Completed  Position Responsible Assistant Secretary, Impact and Innovation Unit		
Effectiveness	Use the annual reports to publish all information related to the projects it supports (that move beyond the expression of interest stage) in order to showcase what has worked, transfer knowledge, and – more importantly – to share lessons	<ul> <li>Agreed The IIU continues to be proactive, open and transparent in all aspects of its work, as demonstrated by: <ul> <li>Ongoing publication of its annual report</li> </ul> </li> <li>Ongoing publication of its case studies</li> <li>Active promotion of Impact Canada projects via impact.canada.ca</li> </ul>		

learned and identify systemlevel barriers to innovation. This will send a powerful message and will help create an environment which demonstrates that informed risk-taking and failure is part of the process and an important part of the learning process.

- Ongoing presentations and engagement opportunities at domestic and international events
- Robust social media engagement
- Continuing blogs series highlighting work, lessons learned and future plans

#### Target Date

Ongoing as this is intrinsic to the lead role of the Impact and Innovation Unit.

#### Position Responsible

Assistant Secretary, Impact and Innovation Unit

Focus on building capacity and scaling up innovation by leveraging networks and existing communities of practices such as Policy, HR and Regulatory. Bring together key stakeholders that would directly benefit from a deeper discussion of findings and how they might apply the findings in different areas. Expand the use of learning events such as the Randomized Controlled Trials workshop.

#### Agreed

The IIU continues to manage several communities of practice related to behavioural insights at both the federal and federal/provincial/territorial levels. Plans are under way to establish a federal community of practice focused on prizes/challenges.

In addition, IIU staff will continue to:

- Broaden outreach to other functional communities (HR, finance, regulatory) via the DM Task Force on Public Sector Innovation
- Continue in its role as co-chair of the ADM Committee on Experimentation
- Regularly present work at national and international fora
- Utilize the growing cadre of Fellows to work with, train and engage fellow public servants.
- Explore partnership opportunities with the Canada School of Public Service to scale up the States of Change learning curriculum, currently offered to the GC Entrepreneurs under the DM Task Force on Public Sector Innovation.

#### **Target Date**

Ongoing as this is intrinsic to the lead role of the Impact and Innovation Unit.

#### Position Responsible

Assistant Secretary, Impact and Innovation Unit



[\*] as part of ongoing operational planning, develop key performance indicators that measure activities and outcomes and ensure that data and information are being collected on a regular basis to inform ongoing monitoring and reporting on demand for services and results. Given that the IIU is part of the Results and Delivery Unit, it has a leadership role in establishing a plan with detailed indicators that measure change at the system levels. Note: In June 2018, the IIU launched its Theory of Change as the framework for planning and measuring results. According to the IIU, the Theory of Change has helped the Unit build consensus and articulate the systems changes, it, and its partners. are seeking to achieve and how they will be realized. The Unit further committed to move the Theory of Change into action by rolling out the monitoring and developmental evaluation strategies.

#### Agreed

The IIU has developed and implemented a Theory of Change that provides the basis for its performance measurement activities.

#### Target Date

October 2018 - Completed

#### Position Responsible

Assistant Secretary, Impact and Innovation Unit

## APPENDIX A: DETAILED OVERVIEW OF METHODOLOGY

The evaluation of the PCO Central Innovation Hub was conducted between July and September 2018. The evaluation was based on the following methodologies:

#### A Review of Relevant Literature:

This review was designed to cover a range of themes pertaining to innovation hubs and approaches used in other jurisdictions and sectors to drive innovation in policy and service delivery. The literature review was focused on discovering and analyzing trends, common approaches, and common principles of public sector innovation hubs, including:

- Their intended role within the public administration;
- How they are positioned/structured;
- The impact/effect they are intended to have on government more widely; and
- Emerging results, best practices and lessons learned.

#### **Documentation and File Review:**

The IOG reviewed several dozen files and reports provided by the Innovation Hub related to strategic policy, planning and reporting, as well as documents related to the various communities of practices, committees and international working groups (including presentations and submissions).

#### **Interview Consultations:**

The IOG conducted interview consultations with eight federal employees who were either involved in the creation of the Hub or worked in the Hub during the first two years; as well as the co-chairs of the Deputy Minister Committee on Policy Innovation.

## **Case Study Review:**

The IOG reviewed reports from 8 partnership projects that were undertaken during the two-year timeframe of the evaluation. After reviewing these documents, the IOG selected two projects which were representative of the types of projects the Hub was involved with during its first two years of operation for deeper analysis. This included 6 interview consultations with program staff who worked on the project, project partners and an interview with an external advisor that is part of the Hub's Trusted Advisors.

These methodologies provided multiple lines of evidence that informed the evaluation findings, conclusions and recommendations.

#### **Evaluation Limitations:**

There were a number of limitations associated with this evaluation, as follows:

• The evaluation was focused on first two years of the Hub's operations. During this time, the Hub spent the first year establishing the Hub's infrastructure. At the



same time, during its first two years, the Hub was quickly evolving which made the assessment of results more challenging given that, in effect, the key activities and focus of the Hub [\*] were evolving by year 2. These factors, combined with the fact that two years is generally regarding as a short timeframe to evaluate results achievement.

- The short timeframe for, and timing of, the evaluation limited the number of interviews that could be undertaken. In addition, the interviews were primarily with former or current Hub staff. However, project partners and an external advisor were interviewed as part of the case study review.
- Given the timeframe, there were a limited number of projects that had been undertaken and therefore a limited number of partners to consult.

## **APPENDIX B: INTERVIEW GUIDE**

## Evaluation of the PCO Central Innovation Hub

## Introduction

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this evaluation process. The Institute of Governance has been hired to conduct this independent evaluation of the Innovation Hub located at the PCO. What follows is the interview guide to support the evaluation.

All information provided will be kept in strict confidence according to the Treasury Board Policy on Privacy Protection.

## **Background**

This evaluation is largely retrospective in nature and is focused on the establishment and early progress of the Central Innovation Hub (the Hub) during its initial two years. The Hub was first established in 2015 and was rebranded as the Impact and Innovation Unit (IIU) in November 2017, with an expanded mandate to include the delivery of the Impact Canada Initiative (ICI).

#### The Hub was established to:

- Assist federal departments, agencies, and institutions to manage complex policy and service delivery challenges by providing resources and support to these organizations as they examine potential ways to adopt new and emerging approaches, tools and techniques.
- Help federal government institutions test, document and accelerate innovation, and to build capacity and knowledge to support replication and scaling of successful techniques across the Public Service.
- Amplify and align successful initiatives across departmental lines, and create synergies with the broader work of the Privy Council Office.

The Innovation Hub was intended to take on three functions:

- Central resource: best practices, new tools, approaches, and techniques.
- Connect and convene: establish networks and partnerships. Act as central node in broader innovation network (i.e., with other countries such as UK).
- Innovation driver: work directly with departments to define problems, plan projects, assess solutions, and evaluate initiative. The Hub can also work as an active member of the project team throughout the lifecycle of project.



During the initial years of its establishment, the Hub focused on

- behavioural insights;
- data and design thinking; and
- the application of tested tools and techniques to different areas.

## Scope of the Evaluation

The scope of this evaluation is from the time of the Hub's establishment in 2015 to November 2017. The evaluation does not include the newly expanded mandate.

## Interview Questions

#### **Background**

- 1. To begin, can you please describe your job title and your responsibilities in relation to the Hub?
- 2. Can you provide us with the background and context that led up to the establishment of the Hub? As a signature corner stone of the Government of Canada's Blueprint 2020 was the Hub positioned for success?

#### **Probes:**

- o Was the Hub properly situated organizationally?
- o Was it properly resourced?

## **Emerging Results**

- 3. Can you explain the first two years of operation? What went well? What delays/barriers were encountered? Has it achieved its expected outcomes? What would you do differently today?
  - How open are other departments that were already working in the innovation lab space such as ISED?
- 4. Can you point to any new tools and approaches that have become embedded in the policy development and delivery process system-wide as a result of the work of the Hub?

#### **Probes:**

 Are policies in place to provide authority for departments to use these more innovative approaches to policy, programs and service delivery? Are their barriers to its usage? 5. What mechanisms have been established to spread successful innovation across portfolios (e.g., Hub annual reports/case studies, interdepartmental communities of practice, departmental innovation labs)?

#### **Probes:**

- Have you seen uptake and experimentation with new innovative approaches across federal departments and agencies as a result of the Hub's work/activities? Is there evidence of system-wide uptake?
- Is there evidence that the Hub and the initiatives supported have strengthened policy and program outcomes?
- 6. Are some departments and agencies more open to experimenting with these new approaches?
- 7. What has been the role of the Hub in ensuring that Canada is an active member of the international community of practice and network of innovation labs? What is Canada's position within the international community? What more could be done to position Canada as a leader in public policy and program innovation?
- 8. Generally, has the Hub been successful in measuring and demonstrating its results? In what areas is it having the greatest impact?
- 9. Has there been a reduction in overlap or duplication in innovative experiments and research?
- 10. What have been the barriers to results achievement? How has the Hub tried to overcome these barriers?

## **Continuous Learning**

- 11. Behavioural insights and data and design thinking were the initial signature initiatives. Were these good choices? What role should they play going forward? Should they continue to be a focal point?
- 12. The Hub has a well-defined process and method for selecting projects (e.g., policy promise, ability to scale, departmental readiness, projects that have been successful in other jurisdictions). Has this process been effective at selecting the right projects for experimentation and proof of concept?
- 13. In terms of the Hub's approach and focus, are you aware of different approaches found in other jurisdiction that have been more successful at igniting innovation in public policy and service delivery?
- 14. How effective has the Hub been at bringing in non-traditional players into government to support innovation and co-design and co-created solutions to complex problems (i.e., private, not-for-profit, international stakeholders)?
- 15. Does there continue to be a need for the Hub/IIU to spark innovation across government?

Probe:

- If there were no Hub/IIU in PCO today, would the Clerk feel the need to create one?
- 16. Are there alternative approaches that may be more efficient at driving innovation in the federal Public Service?

## Conclusion

- 17. Do you have any other comments to inform the evaluation and/or improve the overall impact of the Innovation Hub/IIU?
- 18. Is there someone else you would recommend we interview?
  - ~ Thank you for participating in this evaluation process ~

## APPENDIX C: OVERVIEW OF PROJECTS REVIEWED

As part of the evaluation, the IOG reviewed the following reports on projects undertaken with the support of the Innovation Hub:

- Behavioural Insights Project: Increasing Recruitment of Women into the Canadian Armed Forces, Innovation Hub – Privy Council Office
- Behavioural Insights Project: Canadian Women with a Career in the Armed Forces, Impact and Innovation Unit – Privy Council Office
- Designing Interventions: To Improve Organizational Culture for Persons with Disabilities in Health Canada, Central Innovation Hub (March 2017)
- Behavioural Insights Project: Increasing Take-up of the Canadian Learning Bond, Impact and Innovation Unit – Privy Council Office
- Language of Work: Bilingualism in the Workplace Consultation and Design Workshop Report (December 2016)
- Family Class Design Challenge: Using Service Design Principles to Improve the Experience of Family Class Sponsorship Clients, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC), Impact and Innovation Unit, Privy Council Office, 2017
- Behavioural Insights Project: Increasing Responsive Rates to a Statistics Canada Survey, Innovation Hub – Privy Council Office